1 2 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed 3 GOLDEN ROAD MOTOR INN, INC., a Sep 02 2014 04:29 p.m. 4 Tracie K. Lindeman Nevada Corporation d/b/a ATLANTIS Clerk of Supreme Court CASINO RESORT SPA. 5 Appellant/Cross-Respondent, Case No.: 64349 6 VS. SUMONA ISLAM, an individual, 7 Respondent/Cross-Appellant 8 and MEI-GSR HOLDINGS LLC, a Nevada 9 limited liability company d/b/a GRAND 10 SIERRA RESORT which claims to be the successor in interest to NAV-RENO-11 GS, LLC, 12 Respondent. SUMONA ISLAM, an individual, 13 Appellant Case No.: 64452 14 VS. GOLDEN ROAD MOTOR INN, INC., a 15 Nevada Corporation d/b/a ATLANTIS 16 CASINO RESORT SPA. 17 Respondent. MEI-GSR HOLDINGS LLC

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final judgment dated August 26, 2013 which forms the basis for the Nevada Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1). Notice of entry of this judgment was served on October 1, 2013 and this appeal was timely filed on October 30, 2013.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred by determining that the Non-Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreement between Atlantis and Islam was overbroad and unenforceable based upon its prohibition of employment with "any gaming business or enterprise."
- 2. Whether the district court erred by finding in favor of Islam and against Atlantis on its conversion claim.

27 | | //

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a consolidated appeal of the decision of the district court following the bench trial of claims brought by Atlantis against a former employee, Sumona Islam, and her new employer, GSR, related to the misappropriation and use of Atlantis intellectual property by Islam and GSR in contravention of Nevada law and contract. 8 App. 1774-1812 and 11 App. 2357-2373. Following the 11 day trial, the district court issued a decision from the bench in favor of Atlantis and against Islam, but also issued a decision in favor of GSR on the same and related claims brought against that entity. These decisions were memorialized in two written orders. The decision in favor of Atlantis was entered August 26, 2013, and is the subject of this brief.² 6 App. 1295-1310 and 7 App. 1566-1586. The decision in favor of GSR and against Atlantis was entered September 27, 2013, and is addressed in the companion brief filed separately by Atlantis, pursuant to this court's order of June 20, 2014. 7 App. 1456-1462 and 7 App. 1587-1598. This appeal followed; however, additional orders have issued related to awards of costs and fees, and these are the subject of amendments to some of the existing, and now consolidated, appeals.

Atlantis contends in the consolidated appeals that the decision of the district court is internally irreconcilable, in conflict with itself, contrary to Nevada law, as well as unsupported by the undisputed facts adduced at trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was filed by Atlantis on April 27, 2012, following the mid-January 2012 resignation of Islam from her employment as an Executive Casino Host with Atlantis, and after Atlantis had determined that, in contravention to her contractual obligations and Nevada law, she had become employed by a direct

26

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

27

² Islam also appealed from this order. *See* 9 App. 2013-2016 and 9 App. 2029-2032.

competitor of Atlantis (GSR), had sabotaged Atlantis' marketing database, and had misappropriated trade secrets of Atlantis to GSR that GSR was using to its commercial advantage.

It is the responsibility of an Executive Casino Host to identify and capture, and then promote and cultivate, the particular gaming guests assigned to them and, insofar as appropriate, to promote and cultivate the resort's high value gaming guests generally.³ 14 App. 2915-2924 (Islam); 13 App. 2678 (DeCarlo) and 12 App. 2506-2507 (Ringkob). While employed by Atlantis for nearly four years, Islam was one of approximately 14 Executive Casino Hosts. 13 App. 2661:18-20, 2706:7-9 (DeCarlo). Like similarly situated Atlantis employees, Islam was required, as a term of her employment, to execute a number of contracts with Atlantis which had as part, if not their exclusive intent, the protection of the intellectual property and trade secrets of Atlantis. 14 App. 2947-2951, 2956-2961, 2962-2965:4, 2968-2970 (Islam) and 19 App. 3956-3966 (Robinson) The trade secrets sought to be maintained included, specifically, information developed by Atlantis regarding the highly valued gaming guests with whom Islam had contact and whose information she had access to as a consequence of her employment and position with Atlantis. *Id.* Because of her host duties, it was a requirement that even though Islam might not have any direct interaction with a guest or be a guest's assigned host, she would have access to the proprietary data kept by Atlantis related to guests assigned to her and all guests. ⁴ 12 App. 2496-2497 (Ringkob) and 13 App. 2680:9-2681:1 (DeCarlo).

23

3

4

5

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

24

25

26

27

³ "Capture" is a term used in the industry for the identification of high value gaming guests and the establishment of a relationship between the casino and the guest. 13 App. 2664:19-22 (DeCarlo).

⁴ In other words, due to their job duties all hosts at Atlantis have access to the database that includes all guests, not just the guests with whom they have a host relationship. The evidence at trial indicated this to be the case at GSR as well. 16 App. 3297:1-20 (Hadley).

The Contracts

In order to protect its trade secrets, Atlantis utilized four contracts, and it is these contracts upon which the action below was largely based. These contracts include the: 1) Atlantis Online Systems User Agreement - 21 App. 4264-4268; 2) Business Ethics Policy and Code of Conduct Acknowledgement and Conflicts of Interest Statement - 21 App. 4269-4283; 3) Atlantis Company Policy Regarding Company Property, Proprietary Information and Trade Secrets - 21 App. 4284-4287; and 4) Non-Compete/Non-Solicitation Agreement - 21 App. 4288-4289. During the trial, Islam confirmed that she executed each of these.⁵

- (1) Through the Atlantis Online Systems User Agreement, Islam agreed to accept and comply with the important standards set forth in that agreement. 14 App. 2948. Included among those policies was the critical prohibition against disclosing trade secrets or proprietary information. 14 App. 2949, 21 App. 4266-4269. That contract defined proprietary information and trade secrets to include guest lists, prospective guest lists and identification of the services rendered to such guests. 14 App. 2950-2951, 21 App. 4266-4267. Islam understood her agreement to this policy was a term of her employment and that she would be terminated if she did not agree to the policy and comply with it. 14 App. 2961.
- (2) Pursuant to the Atlantis Business Ethics Policy and Code of Conduct, which Islam signed and acknowledged annually, Islam agreed, among other things, not to disclose confidential information to any unauthorized persons, either during or after termination of her employment. 21 App. 4276 and 14 App. 2958-2959. Confidential information is defined to include "all non-public information regarding the Company's operations and business activities and those of its

⁵ Atlantis Online Systems User Agreement - 14 App. 2947-2948, Business Ethics Policy and Code of Conduct - 14 App. 2956-2957, Atlantis Company Policy Regarding Company Property, Proprietary Information and Trade Secrets - 14 App. 2962-2965 and Non-Compete/Non-Solicitation Agreement - 14 App. 2968.

customers," and the examples listed included "items such as customer lists, customer information (such as player tracking or club information)" and "trade secrets." 21 App. 4276 and 14 App. 2959. Islam understood that if she had not agreed to the policy, she would probably be terminated. 14 App. 2961.

- (3) By signing the third agreement, i.e., the Atlantis Company Policy Regarding Company Property, Proprietary Information and Trade Secrets, Islam agreed to not share with Atlantis the trade secret information of others nor appropriate to others, the trade secret information of Atlantis. 21 App. 4284-4287 and 14 App. 2962-2967. Further, Islam understood that her agreement to be bound by this important policy was a term of her continued employment, and if she refused her employment would have been terminated. 14 App. 2967.
- Material to this appeal, through the Non-Competition Agreement, **(4)** Islam agreed that as a condition of her employment with Atlantis, if that employment ended, she would not "be employed by, in any way affiliated with or provide any services to, any gaming business or enterprise located within 150 miles of Atlantis Casino Resort for a period of one (1) year after the date the employment relationship between Atlantis and Team Member ends." 21 App. 4289. Further, at trial, Islam admitted that she understood, when she signed the Non-Competition Agreement, that as an at will employee, she could have simply refused to sign the agreement or could even just quit. 14 App. 2968-2969. However, she testified that she elected not to quit and instead signed the agreement. 14 App. 2969. She acknowledged her understanding of the restrictions on her employment imposed by the Non-Competition Agreement, yet she still accepted a job with a competitor of Atlantis a few hours after her resignation. 14 App. 2969-2970. Indeed, she recognized that the employment at GSR was in direct violation of the Non-Competition Agreement. 14 App. 2970.

27 | ///

1

3

4

5

7

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

28 | | /,

Non-Contractual Efforts by Atlantis to Maintain the Secrecy of its Trade Secrets

In addition to express written contracts with its employees, Atlantis developed and used additional extraordinary measures to protect its proprietary information. This included restricting access to the data, disabling the methods to copy data from computers, and the fact that the computers with access to the marketing database do not have printers. 14 App. 2941. Islam recognized the existence of these extensive measures to protect Atlantis information, and as she explained at trial, she could not use a USB port or email a guest list from an Atlantis computer, because the emails are screened to preclude transmission of such information in their content. 14 App. 2954-2955.

Atlantis developed and scrupulously maintains its state-of-the-art security system to protect the confidential information in its guest databases, as Bob Woods, the Atlantis IT security administrator and one of the technicians charged with the construction, maintenance and operation of that system, testified at trial. 16 App. 3388:18-3390:15. Woods explained the extensive IT security efforts undertaken by Atlantis to ensure the security of its confidential and proprietary information. 16 App. 3390:16-3398:6. For example, casino hosts such as Islam can access the information only at secure computers. *Id.* Woods explained that the computer system at Atlantis has built-in features that block a user from emailing or printing confidential information, uploading information to a cloud or other outside server, or downloading information to an external device such as a CD or a flash drive. 6 Id.

Atlantis discovered in this lawsuit, and Islam admitted, that while still employed by Atlantis, she had covertly and surreptitiously copied guest database information by hand, sitting at her computer and tediously writing the confidential information into six or more spiral notebooks that she secretly took with her after

1

3

4

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

²⁷ 28

These security measures were also confirmed by other witnesses at trial. 7

she quit her job at Atlantis. 14 App. 2973:21-2976:5, 2978:6-16, 2998:9-11, The evidence at trial demonstrated that Islam had brought the spiral notebooks with her to her new employer, GSR, and transferred the information to GSR's databases. 14 App. 2976:13-19, 2977:15-21, 2978:17-2980:9, 2981:15-18, 2990:19-23. Islam testified that she added information related to 220 guests to the GSR database. 15 App. 3063:19-22. It was further undisputed that GSR used that and other information received from Islam to market to those guests. 16 App. 3312:11-17 (Hadley). Lastly, although the damage done to Atlantis was disputed at trial, it was not disputed that the conduct of GSR and Islam resulted in Atlantis guests frequenting GSR instead of Atlantis. Indeed, GSR reports admitted into evidence set forth the revenue from these guests for the period of January 2012 through November 2012. 22 App. 4619-4626. Those reports also can be used to compare the play of those guests during the same months in the year prior to Islam's employment at GSR (many of which had no play). *Id*. Through a comparison of those reports, admitted profit enjoyed by GSR and some of the impact of GSR's and Islam's solicitation of those guests can be conclusively proven.

Islam's Misappropriation

Despite the four important contracts that Islam signed, and the additional security measures employed by Atlantis to protect its trade secret information, Islam admitted that during her employment at Atlantis, she copied by hand guest information from the Atlantis player marketing database into a series of at least six spiral notebooks. 14 App. 2973-2978. During the testimony at trial, it was disclosed that at least one spiral notebook, in addition to the five notebooks produced, was allegedly lost in the GSR offices. 14 App. 2975-2978. Islam testified that she knew that it was a violation of Atlantis policy to copy the

28

3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

²⁶²⁷

DeCarlo testified that he had never seen a host copying information from their computer screen, that such a behavior was discouraged, and had he observed Islam doing so he would have acted. 13 App. 2758-2759:4.

information, and that she copied it by hand because there was no other way to duplicate the information. All other ways had been disabled. 14 App. 2978.

Islam further testified that after becoming employed by GSR, she brought the spiral notebooks to the GSR and transferred the information from them into the GSR marketing computer database. 14 App. 2978-2980. Indeed, she testified that virtually all of the guest information that she added to the GSR computer database came from the spiral notebooks she had copied by hand from the protected Atlantis database. 14 App. 2981. In addition to adding Atlantis guest information to the GSR database, Islam testified that she reviewed the GSR database and, if she recognized a person from her employment at Atlantis, she would ask GSR to code that person to her. 14 App. 2982-2983. In this way, she was able to improperly use not only Atlantis information she had copied into the spiral notebooks, but also information she learned at Atlantis related to persons for whom she did not have the contact information, but recognized their name.

At trial, there was evidence and argument regarding the host's "book of trade." 13 App. 2685:15-2686, 2711-2713:10 (DeCarlo) and 12 App. 2537-2540 (Ringkob). Guest information which was known to the host prior to her employment, based upon her own efforts and not proprietary information of another host or prior employer, and which the host brought with her to employment is commonly referred to as that host's "book of trade." *Id*.

In association with this issue, Islam was also asked at trial to identify those guests never hosted by her whose information was contained on the spiral notebooks and who had also been added to the GSR database. 15 App. 3071-3084. Islam identified approximately 50 Atlantis guests whose information she had added to the GSR marketing database and who never had been hosted (coded)

⁸ She also claimed to have captured (acquired) one or two new players and that some persons had come with friends to the GSR. 14 App. 2981 and 2984.

by her at Atlantis. ⁹ In other words, Islam admitted that these approximately 50 high value Atlantis gaming guests were guests assigned to other hosts at Atlantis, but she had improperly and surreptitiously copied by hand their information from the Atlantis database and transferred it to the GSR database. 15 App. 3083. This was in addition to the guest information Islam had added for guests known to her only as a consequence of her employment at Atlantis. These persons, in addition to the approximately 50 hosted by other Atlantis hosts, were therefore admittedly not part of any book of trade Islam brought to Atlantis, yet their information was misappropriated by her when she took it from Atlantis and added it to the GSR database.

Atlantis also presented to the district court the list of 220 guests added to the GSR database cross-referenced to the Atlantis host to whom those guests were assigned at the time Islam terminated her employment, and the book of trade Islam brought with her to Atlantis. 18 App. 3652:2-20 (McNeely) and 23 App. 4884-4887. This resulted in a determination that merely 18 of the 220 guests added to the GSR database by Islam were persons that she had identified as part of her book of trade when she came to Atlantis. 18 App. 3653:11-19. Removal of these persons from the damage calculation decreased Atlantis' damage calculation by only about \$11,000. 10 18 App. 3653:20-3654:18. This evidence also demonstrated that approximately half (99) of the 202 guests forming the basis for the Atlantis damage claim had been hosted by someone other than Islam at the time of her resignation. 23 App. 4884-4887.

///

⁹ Islam and other witnesses explained at trial that if a guest is "coded" to you, you are deemed the host that is responsible for the relationship with that player. 14 App. 2934:15-2935:20.

The Atlantis method of calculating damages was not adopted by the district court.

GSR's Hiring of Islam

In September of 2011, Islam applied for a position of Executive Casino Host at GSR. 21 App. 4352. In that process, she interviewed with GSR management, Tom Flaherty, Vice President of Casino Operations and Shelly Hadley, Executive Director of Casino Marketing. 15 App. 3033:11-24, 3035:3-21, 17 App. 3528 and 16 App. 3285-3286. During the interviews, Islam disclosed to GSR the existence of her contractual obligations to Atlantis in the form of the Non-Compete/Non-Solicitation Agreement. 15 App. 3034:12-14 (Islam); 17 App. 3530:21-3531:19 (Flaherty) and 16 App. 3288:13-23 (Hadley). Despite this disclosure, GSR offered her, and she accepted, a position as an Executive Casino Host, the same position she had at Atlantis. 14 App. 2917. Islam further obtained, as a term of that offer, the agreement of GSR that it would provide her with legal representation if Atlantis asserted its rights under the agreements between Atlantis and Islam. 15 App. 3040:12-3041:6. Specifically, her GSR offer letter stated, "Based upon your concern that your former employer might bring legal action against you we are prepared to provide you with legal representation at no cost or expense to you." 21 App. 4339.¹¹

Thus, the evidence was uncontroverted that Islam was aware and concerned about her obligations pursuant to at least the Non-Compete/Non-Solicitation Agreement as she negotiated the job with GSR, and that GSR was aware of the Non-Compete/Non-Solicitation Agreement prior to making Islam an offer of employment. This evidence also confirms that GSR and Islam recognized that the employment of Islam was in violation of the Non-Compete/Non-Solicitation

24

3

4

5

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

²⁶²⁷

²⁸

This language was revised from a prior iteration of the offer letter which only nebulously committed GSR's support "concerning the potential legal action by your former employer in relation to your Non-Compete Agreement." 15 App. 3041:8-3042:17 and 21 App. 4341. The revised letter was much broader, covering any legal action brought by Atlantis.

Agreement and would very likely be met by legal action brought by Atlantis seeking to enforce its contracts with Islam.

1

2

3

4

5

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Although GSR contended that Islam had been instructed not to bring information from Atlantis, the sworn testimony was unsupportive of that position. Islam denied that she had been told that she could not bring information to GSR. 14 App. 2988. Rather, Islam testified that all but one or two of the people she had added to the GSR database were from the spiral notebooks into which she had copied information from the Atlantis database. 14 App. 2981. She estimated this to be 150 to 200 guests. 12 14 App. 2988. This is consistent with the list of guests coded to Islam that was produced by GSR which evidenced that Islam had added approximately 220 guests to the GSR database during her employment. 21 App. 4376-4389. Once employed at the GSR, Islam began to solicit guests she had known or known of during or as a consequence of her employment at Atlantis. In doing so, she would select a solicitation offer or value that she felt would "be a good offer for them." 15 App. 3089-3091. This determination of how much to spend on the solicitation for the prospective guest would, by its nature, necessarily utilize the knowledge of the guest's worth that Islam had gained from her employment at Atlantis. 15 App. 3089-3091. The evidence was uncontroverted that knowledge of the guest rating or value of the guest is proprietary information and is critical to the decision of how much in promotional benefits a casino will reinvest in the guest. 12 App. 2507:15-2508:22 (Ringkob); 13 App. 2667:13-2672:11, 2684:8-24, 2759:15-2760:12 (DeCarlo) and 14 App. 2924:7-12 (Islam).

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