1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GOLDEN ROAD MOTOR INN, INC.,
A Nevada Corporation d/b/a
ATLANTIS CASINO RESORT SPA,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,
vs.
SUMONA ISLAM, An Individual,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,
and
MEI-GSR HOLDINGS LLC, A
Nevada Limited Liability Company
d/b/a GRAND SIERRA RESORT
which claims to be the successor in
interest to NAV-RENO-GS, LLC,

Case No.: ~~64545~~ Electronically Filed
Dec 05 2014 03:11 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondent.

SUMONA ISLAM, An Individual,

Appellant,
vs.

Case No.: 64452

GOLDEN ROAD MOTOR INN, INC.,
A Nevada Corporation d/b/a

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

24 Q. So your position is that the creation of an agreement between an
25 employee can make something a trade secret, because the Atlantis
26 says in an agreement with an employee it is a trade secret. That’s
 your position?

27 A. **Not a trade secret under the Trade Secret Act**, but it can become
28 confidential under a contractual agreement. [19 App. 4004-
 05](emphasis).

1 Decarlo, Sumona's supervisor, testified:

2 Q. Okay. And you didn't think that violated the confidentiality
3 agreement?

4 A. You know, that's probably the whole rub of this whole thing is **that**
5 **hosts forever have been able to move their guests around**, their
6 **personal guests around. And I just think it gives casinos heartburn.**
7 **But I think the host has the right, just like a used car salesman**
8 **has the right to take their players from one place to another.** [13
9 App. 2868](emphasis).¹²

10 Hadley testified:

11 You know, we do everything we can to keep computer
12 information confidential; however, it's customary for
13 hosts to have relationships with guests that they may
14 have had throughout the years. **So hosts that leave the**
15 **property or leave any casino are – have those**
16 **relationships that they take with them.** So we don't
17 control people, just information in the computer." [16
18 App. 3321-22](emphasis).

19 Atlantis' Confidentiality and Trade Secret Agreement ("Confidential
20 Agreement") confirms the special nature of a host's book of business by
21 providing that "intellectual property may include hotel or casino customer/guests
22 lists . . ." and "[s]uch information is proprietary and may constitute "trade secrets
23" [1 App. 50-51](emphasis). Atlantis allows host's books of business to
24 leave the property.

25 There is a long-standing practice in the gaming industry of casinos hiring
26 hosts from another casino in order to obtain their book of business to drive
27 business to the casino. [12 App. 2600; 19 App. 4044]. "First and foremost, trade
28 secret law protects only information that is kept secret." *Flotec v. Southern*
Research, Inc., 16 F. Supp. 2d 992, 1000 (S. D. Ind. 1998). Atlantis embraces
this business model in their repeated hirings of host's from other casinos, such as
Sumona. [13 App. 2865, 2883, 2893-94].

¹² This testimony related to Sumona's confidentiality agreement with Harrah's that Atlantis ignored. [19 App. 4024-26; 12 2593-94; Exhibits 43-44].

1 A host's book of business is "readily ascertainable by proper means by the
2 public," and therefore, by definition cannot be a trade secret. The "sister-state"
3 case law cited by Atlantis, which is not controlling, ignores the substantial
4 evidence that a host's book of business is not a trade secret. *See Frantz*.

5 **B. & C. Whether Information Confidential/Secret**
6 **Extent/Manner Information Guarded**

7 While there was testimony that both Atlantis and GSR considered their
8 respective customer lists confidential and proprietary as to themselves, there was
9 equally consistent testimony that such confidentiality was not imposed upon the
10 respective host regarding their book of business. [12 App. 2600-02, 2614-16,
11 2538, 2645; 13 App. 2712, 2868; 16 App. 3321-22, 3262; Exhibit 75; (Ringkob)
12 12 App. 2591, 2607, 2645-46; (Decarlo) 13 App. 2868, 2712-13; (Hadley) 16
13 App. 3321-22; (Sumona) 3262. Pursuant to *NRS 600A.030(5)(a)*, information
14 will not be considered a "trade secret" if it is readily ascertainable by proper
15 means by the public or any other person who can obtain commercial or economic
16 value from its disclosure or use. "Where the plaintiff's customers are known to
17 competitors as potential customers, the plaintiff's customer list is not a trade
18 secret." *Cambridge Filter*, 548 F. Supp. at 1306. Competitors, such as Atlantis,
19 routinely hire hosts for the purpose of acquiring their book of business. It is
20 axiomatic that the hiring of a host will mean that a competitor such as Atlantis
21 will acquire players within a competing host's book of business that are current
22 and/or potential customers and thereafter attempt to drive those players business
23 to Atlantis. This is Atlantis' business model. The host's book of business is not
24 guarded, as both Ringkob and Decarlo testified that Sumona could take her book
25 of business with her. [12 App. 2645; 13 App. 2712].

26 \\\

27 \\\

28 \\\

1 **D. Former Employee’s Knowledge of Customer’s**
2 **Habits/Data & Knowledge by Employer’s**
3 **Competitors**

4 There was substantial evidence established that it is common for players to
5 gamble at multiple casinos, for players to obtain player’s card from these casinos
6 (thereby providing each casino with their contact information), for players to
7 share marketing information between one casino and another in order to obtain
8 better offers and for casinos to have substantial parity in their respective
9 customer lists. [15 App. 3223-27, 3235, 3266, 3043; 17 App. 3470-73; 25 App.
10 5353; Exhibits 65-66].

11 Evidence established that marketing offers that GSR made to Sumona’s
12 players were “not enough to get them in the car and drive” to GSR and that
13 players wanted to combine offers. [Exhibit 41 (22 App. 4586, 4603, 4610-11); 18
14 App. 3807-10]. Players were advising GSR of what they wanted in terms of
15 marketing offers and this would not be trade secret information as the player was
16 providing this information and not Sumona. [Exhibit 71 (24 App. 5353)].

17 It was common for Atlantis players to stop playing at the Atlantis even
18 while Sumona was still working at the Atlantis. [15 App. 3234]. The court
19 properly found that Sumona’s book of business was hers to take to GSR. It was
20 not limited to only players coded to Sumona. Sumona testified that more than
21 half of the players she brought to GSR were already in the GSR database. [15
22 App. 3234-35]. Marketing strategies are not known between casinos. [17 App.
23 3481]. While the court found additional categories of player information to fall
24 within the purview of the UTSA, nevertheless, the court properly found based
25 upon substantial evidence that GSR’s player database did not allow Sumona to
26 enter information beyond that of a player’s name, address and contact
27 information. [7 App. 1593].

28 \\

1 “A former employee has the right to engage in a competitive business for
2 himself and to enter into competition with his former employer, even for the
3 business of those who had formerly been customers of his former employer,
4 provided such competition is fairly and legally conducted.” *Continental Car-Na-*
5 *var Corp. v. Moseley*, 24 Cal. 2d 104, 148 P.2d 9, 13 (Cal. 1944).

6 **2. No Misappropriation by GSR**

7 Statutory liability under the UTSA is imposed only in cases where a party
8 has obtained the trade secret information through “improper means” or through
9 “misappropriation.” See *NRS 600A.030(5)(a)-(b)*.¹³ There was no substantial
10 evidence that established that GSR “knew or had reason to know” that any trade
11 secret information had been utilized by Sumona at GSR.

12
13
14 ¹³ *NRS 600A.030(1)* defines “improper means” as theft, bribery,
15 misrepresentation, willful breach or willful inducement of a breach of a duty
16 imposed by common law, statute, contract, license, protective order or other court
17 or administrative order; and espionage through electronic or other means. *NRS*
18 *600A.030(2)* defines “misappropriation” as:

- 19 (a) Acquisition of the trade secret of another by a person by improper means;
20 (b) Acquisition of a trade secret of another by a person who knows or has
21 reason to know that the trade secret was acquired by improper means; or
22 (c) Disclosure or use of a trade secret of another without express or implied
23 consent by a person who:
24 (1) Used improper means to acquire knowledge of the trade secret;
25 (2) At the time of disclosure or use, knew or had reason to know that his
26 or her knowledge of the trade secret was:
27 (I) Derived from or through a person who had used improper
28 means to acquire it;
(II) Acquired under circumstances giving rise to a duty to
maintain its secrecy or limit its use; or
(III) Derived from or through a person who owed a duty to the
person seeking relief to maintain its secrecy or limit its use; or
(3) Before a material change of his or her position, knew or had reason
to know that it was a trade secret and that knowledge of it had been
acquired by accident or mistake.

1 NRS 600A.030 is *not* a strict liability statute. Relevant evidence for
2 purposes of GSR is not whether ultimately any such information is found to be a
3 trade secret, it is only relevant to the extent that GSR “knew or had reason to
4 know” that is was acquiring information protected as a trade secret. *cf. Siragusa*
5 *v. Brown*, 114 Nev. 1384, 1391, 971 P.2d 801, 806 (1998)(“when the plaintiff
6 knew or in the exercise of proper diligence should have known of the facts
7 constituting the elements of his cause of action is a question of fact for the trier
8 of fact.”). The court properly found that GSR did not seek or obtain any trade
9 secret information and nothing that Sumona was doing at GSR was outside of
10 common host practices. [16 App. 3250-52; 17 App. 3555-56].

11 The elements of a misappropriation of trade secret include: (1) a valuable
12 trade secret; (2) misappropriation of the trade secret through use, disclosure, or
13 nondisclosure of use of the trade secret; and (3) the requirement that the
14 misappropriation be wrongful because it was made in breach of an express or
15 implied contract or by a party with a duty not to disclose. *Frantz*, 116 Nev. at
16 466, 999 P.2d at 358.

17 **A. GSR Only Sought Sumona’s Book of Business**

18 The court properly found that GSR had not violated the UTSA, as GSR
19 acted reasonably and in good faith in ensuring that no information was obtained
20 from Sumona other than her book of business which was not a trade secret. [7
21 App. 1593-95]. Evidence established that GSR never sought nor advised
22 Sumona to bring any confidential and/or trade secret information from Atlantis to
23 GSR. [17 App. 3536]. In fact, Flaherty specifically told Sumona to just walk out
24 [of Atlantis] and not bring anything with her to GSR other than her relationships.
25 [17 App. 3548-9]. Sumona did not show GSR the spiral notebooks and entered
26 the information into the GSR database herself. The GSR player database
27 restricted Sumona’s ability to enter any information other than information that
28 would properly be found within her book of business. [16 App. 3306, 3357].

1 **B. Reasonable Reliance by GSR**

2 Testimony by both Atlantis and GSR established that casinos rely upon the
3 representations of hosts as to what players the host has developed a personal
4 relationship with and are therefore part of the host’s book of business. [13 App.
5 2613, 2687; 16 App. 3363-67]. Sumona repeatedly advised GSR, both after the
6 commencement of her employment with GSR and after the issues with Atlantis
7 arose that the information that she placed into the GSR database and was using,
8 which information was limited to that information which normally comprises a
9 host’s book of business, was from her book of business and were players with
10 whom she had a relationship. [16 App. 3296, 3301, 3312, 3319, 3358-61]. The
11 letters sent by Sumona from GSR were based upon this same reasonable reliance
12 that they were to players that were part of Sumona’s book of business. [25 App.
13 5320-28; Exhibit 77; Exhibits 41, 48, 51]. Sumona’s actions at GSR were
14 consistent with other hosts. [17 App. 3355-58].

15 Atlantis’ arguments relating to the use, i.e. placing them into the GSR
16 database, by Sumona of players not “coded” to her Atlantis or “other hosts’
17 customers” misconstrues the ruling of the court and impermissibly seeks to
18 impose strict liability upon GSR where the statutory language does not provide.
19 There was no substantial evidence that established that GSR knew or had reason
20 to know that any players were not part of Sumona’s book of business. GSR, like
21 Atlantis, was entitled to rely upon Sumona’s repeated affirmations that she had
22 relationships with all the players.

23 Atlantis’ arguments relating to their April 6, 2012 letter to GSR ignores the
24 fact that GSR conducted a reasonable and good faith investigation to determine
25 the validity of Atlantis’ complaints, however, Atlantis did not provide GSR with
26 any specific information and Sumona advised GSR that she was utilizing her
27 book of business at GSR. [15 App. 3108; Exhibit 5].

28 \\

1 Sumona testified that contrary to Atlantis' April 6, 2012 letter, the players
2 that were sent marketing offers by GSR were players with whom she had a
3 personal relationship and those players had not expressed displeasure to Sumona
4 about being contacted by GSR. [15 App. 3110-11, 3093-95]. In contrast,
5 Atlantis' business practice in the face of similar complaints from other casinos is
6 to do no investigation. [19 App. 4024-26; 12 App. 2593-94; Exhibits 43-44].

7 Testimony established that the marketing efforts made by GSR to the
8 players that Sumona represented to be in her book of business were not
9 inconsistent with that of other hosts at GSR [16 App. 3315, 3355; 17 App. 3556]
10 and GSR would have no reason to know or should have known these efforts were
11 improper - which they were not. The testimony of Christian Ambrose
12 ("Ambrose"), Director of Planning and Analysis at GSR, relating to "changing
13 precedent" related not to types or values of marketing offers but to the logistical
14 mailing issues involved in extracting mailing lists. [18 App. 3787-91, 3808-10;
15 Exhibit 41 (4613)]. Atlantis personnel did not know GSR's marketing strategies
16 [17 App. 3469] and the figures utilized by Ambrose relating to GSR's internal
17 mathematical formulas and marketing offers were not based upon any actual
18 player data from Atlantis. [18 App. 3812-13]. Atlantis makes offers based upon
19 a host's input, as Brandon McNeely ("McNeely"), Data Integration Manager for
20 Atlantis, [18 App. 3613] testified:

21 Because we're essentially the channel for marketing, as
22 far as reporting goes and **we are a contact for hosts to**
23 **make modifications to players. We send out offers,**
24 **so we get contacts from hosts all the time about**
different offers to be sent out to different players
and the creation of offers and promotions. [18 App.
3629]

25 There was substantial evidence that GSR did not seek or advise Sumona to
26 bring or utilize any trade secret and/or confidential information to GSR and only
27 requested that she bring her relationships. [16 App. 3250; 17 App. 3548].

28 \\\

1 **C. Good Faith Efforts to Comply with Injunction**

2 GSR took reasonable and good faith steps to comply with the injunction
3 pending trial. First, the information in the GSR database from Sumona was not
4 trade secret information as it comprised her book of business which consistent
5 testimony revealed was freely transferable from property to property. Separately,
6 a substantial portion of Sumona’s book of business came from Harrah’s and this
7 would not be implicated in the injunction. [Exhibit 18; 14 App. 2970-73; Exhibit
8 75; 1 App. 291-92, 336-37]. Ringkob believed that Sumona could properly bring
9 her book of business, i.e. Exhibit 75, to GSR. [12 App. 2644-45; Exhibits 19, 75,
10 80]. The stipulation for injunction was entered on August 24, 2012 [2 App. 329-
11 46]. Atlantis did not bring any motions before the court referencing any
12 violations of the injunctions pending trial. “A point not urged in the trial court,
13 unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and
14 will not be considered on appeal.” *Britz v. Consolidated Casinos Corp.*, 87 Nev.
15 441, 447, 488 P.2d 911, 915 (1971). GSR suspended Sumona and prevented her
16 from having contact with players at GSR. [14 App. 2926, 2976-77, 3118-20; 15
17 App. 3120, 3183-84; 16 App. 3259-60, 3330; Exhibits 31, 41, 50, 73].

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